No. 42257-3-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DARCUS ALLEN,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE
OF WASHINGTON, FOR PIERCE COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. LINK
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

After a six-week trial the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Maurice Clemmons killed four police officers. However, Maurice Clemmons was dead and not on trial; having been fatally shot in a confrontation with police a few days after his crime.

Instead, the person on trial for four counts of aggravated first degree murder was Dorcus Allen. Unlike its case against Maurice Clemmons, the State could not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Allen committed the crime even under the State's accomplice theory.

To bridge this gap between its proof and the law, the State relied upon a misstatement of the law regarding knowledge and accomplice liability. In an effort to free itself of the burden of proving Mr. Allen possessed the requisite knowledge, the State presented a closing argument which focused on redefining the term knowledge to include what Mr. Allen "should have known." Thus, the State repeated numerous times, Mr. Allen was guilty so long as the jury found "he should have known." That purposeful misstatement of the law led to

Mr. Allen's conviction, and now requires reversal of that conviction.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court violated the Sixth Amendment and deprived Mr. Allen of the due process of law by entering convictions in the absence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt of each element of the offense.

2. The deputy prosecutors' closing argument repeatedly misstated the law and created a mandatory presumption in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment.

3. The trial court erred in failing to suppress the fruits of the warrantless arrest of Mr. Allen in violation of Article I, section 7 and the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

4. To the extent it is a finding of fact, the trial court erred in entering Reasons for Admissibility or Inadmissibility of the Evidence IV.8.

5. To the extent it is a finding of fact, the trial court erred in entering Reasons for Admissibility or Inadmissibility of the Evidence IV.9.

6. To the extent it is a finding of fact, the trial court erred in entering Reasons for Admissibility or Inadmissibility of the Evidence IV.11.

7. To the extent it is a finding of fact, the trial court erred in entering Reasons for Admissibility or Inadmissibility of the Evidence IV.12.

8. The trial court erred and violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment by refusing to instruct the jury on lesser included offenses.

9. The trial court erred in refusing to give Defense Proposed Instruction 55.

10. The trial court erred in refusing to give Defense Proposed Instruction 56.

11. The trial court erred in refusing to give Defense Proposed Instruction 57.

12. The trial court erred in refusing to give Defense Proposed Instruction 58.

13. The trial court erred and exceeded its sentencing authority in imposing an exceptional sentence.

14. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact I.2 in support of an exceptional sentence.

15. The trial court's failure to ensure the jury's verdict was free of improper influences deprived Mr. Allen of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Sixth Amendment and the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause require the State prove each element of an offense to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt. To convict someone as an accomplice, Washington law requires the State prove beyond a reasonable doubt the person knew he was assisting someone in the commission of the crime charged. To prove knowledge, Washington law requires the State prove beyond a reasonable doubt that a person has actual subjective knowledge of the facts necessary to constitute the crime charged. Where the State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Allen had actual subjective knowledge that he was assisting in the commission of four murders do his four convictions of first degree murder violate the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments?

2. The requirements of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments that the State prove each element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt are violated where the jury is presented with a mandatory presumption, requiring them to find an element if the State proves some other fact. The Washington Supreme Court has held that the provisions of RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b)(*ii*) permit, but do not require, a jury to find a person has knowledge if the person possesses facts which would lead a reasonable person to believe that facts exist that are described by a statute defining an offense. The statute does not permit a negligent-ignorance theory, and in the end the State must still prove the person has actual subjective knowledge. The State repeatedly told the jury that, even if Mr. Allen did not actually know, it was sufficient to find he “should have known” Mr. Clemmons was going to commit a crime. Did the State create a mandatory presumption in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments?

3. A prosecutor violates the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process Clause when he misstates the law and endeavors to relieve the State of its burden of proving each element of an

offense. The prosecutors purposefully and repeatedly told the jury, over Mr. Allen's objection and in direct contradiction of long-settled Washington law, that Mr. Allen was guilty so long as he "should have known" Mr. Clemmons intended to commit murder. Did the State's purposeful misconduct violate the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause?

4. Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution and the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution do not permit a warrantless police entry of a home to arrest a person based solely upon probable cause. The warrantless entry may only be justified if the State proves an exception exists to the warrant requirement. In certain cases exigent circumstances such as hot pursuit, risk of flight, or the risk of the destruction of evidence may provide such an exception. Where the State did not establish any exigent circumstance justified the officers' warrantless entry, did the entry of a motel room and the subsequent arrest of Mr. Allen inside violate the Article I, section 7 and the Fourth Amendment?

5. Where a statement is obtained from a person following a warrantless police entry of a home to arrest a person based

solely upon probable cause, Article I, section 7 requires suppression of any statement made following that arrest unless the State establishes in the trial court that an exception to the exclusionary rule applies. The State did not attempt to prove an exception to the exclusionary rule to the unlawful police entry and arrest of Mr. Allen. Did the trial court err in failing to suppress Mr. Allen's statements?

6. Where a statement is obtained from a person following a warrantless police entry of a home to arrest a person based solely upon probable cause and while the person is still in the home, both the Fourth Amendment and Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution require suppression of the statement. Did the trial court err in failing to suppress Mr. Allen's statements made following the unlawful entry of his motel room and while he was still in the motel room?

7. Due process requires a trial court to instruct on a lesser included offense when requested by the defendant, where (1) the lesser offense is necessarily committed when one commits the greater offense as charged, and (2) in the light most favorable to the defendant the evidence supports an inference

that only the lesser offense was committed. In a prosecution for first degree murder as an accomplice, the State's evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Allen, permitted a reasonable juror to conclude Mr. Allen committed only rendering criminal assistance. Did the trial court deny Mr. Allen due process when it refused to provide the requested instruction on the lesser offense?

8. The general accomplice liability statute, RCW 9A.08.020, does not apply to sentencing enhancements or factors. Sentencing enhancements and aggravating factors may only apply to an accomplice if the statute establishing the enhancement or factor provides for accomplice liability. Neither RCW 9.94A.535, which establishes the aggravating factor used in this case, nor RCW 9.94A.537, which establishes the procedure for proving those factors to the jury, provide for accomplice liability. Did the court error in imposing an exceptional sentence in Mr. Allen's case?

9. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments impose an affirmative duty upon the trial court to ensure the jury's verdict is the product of the evidence presented at trial and is free of

influence from outside sources. The trial court concluded it could not limit courtroom spectators from wearing t-shirts memorializing the victims of Maurice Clemmons's crimes, even when those t-shirts were visible to the jurors during trial. Did the trial court's failure to ensure the jury's verdict was free of improper influences deprive Mr. Allen of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Allen worked for a landscaping company Maurice Clemmons owned.

In May 2009 Maurice Clemmons began throwing rocks through his neighbors' windows. 42 RP 3305 When police responded, Clemmons wrestled with and punched the officers. Id. at 3307. At one point he began telling an officer to shoot him. Id. at 3308.

Clemmons illustrated other bizarre behavior. On several occasions he invited family to barbecues and told them celebrities such as Barack Obama, Oprah Winfrey, and LeBron James would be in attendance. 42RP 3309, 3322. On other

occasions Mr. Clemmons claimed to be Jesus Christ, and travelled to New York City to proclaim himself. 37RP 2769.

About six months following his arrest for his assault of the police officers, Mr. Clemmons posted bail and was released from jail the Monday before Thanksgiving. That week, and particularly at his family's Thanksgiving dinner, Clemmons expressed an animosity towards police officers that family members found shocking. 37RP 2749-52. Mr. Clemmons proclaimed to his family that if police came for him, he would be waiting with a gun. Mr. Clemmons also stated he would go to a school and kill the white children. 37RP 2753. Mr. Clemmons would not listen to reason. 37RP 2777. Mr. Allen was present at that Thanksgiving dinner.

On the following Sunday, Maurice Clemmons called Mr. Allen and told him that he wanted Mr. Allen to wash the company truck. Ex 288. Mr. Allen and Mr. Clemmons drove to a carwash at 212th and Steele in Pierce County. Id. Mr. Allen crossed 212th to an *ampm* store, where he purchased a cigar and obtained change for the carwash. 37RP 2762. Unbeknownst to Mr. Allen, Clemmons, too, left the carwash. Id.

Minutes later, Clemmons walked into a Forza Coffee shop a few blocks away and murdered four Lakewood Police Department officers. Clemmons then walked back to the carwash, arriving minutes after Mr. Allen returned from the *ampm*. Ex 288. Clemmons demanded that they leave immediately. Id. Mr. Allen drove the truck away from the car wash. Id.

Later that day, Clemmons arrived at the home of his cousin, Cicely Clemmons, and told her what he had done. 37RP 2746-47. In providing the details of his acts, Clemmons never said Mr. Allen did anything. Id. at 2780.

Maurice Clemmons was killed by a Seattle police officer in the early morning of December 2, 2009. 37RP 2826-30.

About an hour later a SWAT team stormed through the door of Mr. Allen's motel room and arrested him. 38RP 2924-25. Officers conducted a lengthy interrogation, during which Mr. Allen conveyed his lack of knowledge about Mr. Clemmons's intended acts. 39RP 2944; Ex 288. At the close of the interview, the lead detective commented that he had no doubt that Mr. Allen was being truthful. Ex 288.

Despite this belief, the State charged Mr. Allen with four counts of aggravated first degree murder, alleging two aggravating factors under RCW 10.95.020: the victims were law enforcement officers performing their duties at the time of the murder, and there was more than one victim killed as part of a common scheme or plan. CP 1-4. The State subsequently amended the charge to allege the aggravating factor set forth in RCW 9.94A.533 regarding offenses against law enforcement. CP 817-23.¹

A jury convicted Mr. Allen of four counts of first degree murder. CP 2041-44.

A jury acquitted Mr. Allen of the aggravating factors in RCW 10.95.020. CP 2045-48. The jury however returned a special verdict form finding the aggravating factor alleged under RCW 9.94A.535, and found Mr. Allen or an accomplice were armed during the crime. CP 2049-56.

The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence of 420 years. CP 2180-82.

¹ The difference in the charged aggravators is that a yes verdict on the aggravating factors of RCW 10.95.020 results in a mandatory sentence of life without parole, while the aggravating factors under 9.94A.535 permit but do not require an exceptional sentence.

E. ARGUMENT

1. Because the State did not prove Mr. Allen knew he was assisting in a crime, his convictions must be reversed.

A criminal defendant may only be convicted if the government proves every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 300-01, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 476-77, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 510, 115 S.Ct. 2310, 132 L.Ed.2d 444 (1995); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-21, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). The constitutional rights to due process and a jury trial “indisputably entitle a criminal defendant to ‘a jury determination that he is guilty of every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.’” Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 476-77 (quoting Gaudin, 515 U.S. at 510).

This Court may affirm the conviction only if it can conclude that a rational trier of fact could find each element beyond a reasonable doubt. Green, 94 Wn.2d at 221-22.

- a. The State had to prove Mr. Allen knew he was assisting in the commission of a murder.

RCW 9A.08.020 provides:

(1) A person is guilty of a crime if it is committed by the conduct of another person for which he or she is legally accountable.

(2) A person is legally accountable for the conduct of another person when . . . He or she is an accomplice of such other person in the commission of the crime.

(3) A person is an accomplice of another person in the commission of a crime if:

(a) With knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he or she:

(i) Solicits, commands, encourages, or requests such other person to commit it; or

(ii) Aids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or committing it

A person cannot be convicted as an accomplice of a crime unless the State proves “that individual . . . acted with knowledge that he or she was promoting or facilitating *the* crime for which that individual was eventually charged.” (Emphasis in original.) State v Cronin, 142 Wn.2d 568, 579, 14 P.3d 752 (2000). “The Legislature . . . intended the culpability of an accomplice not extend beyond the crimes of which the accomplice actually has ‘knowledge.’” State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 511, 14 P.3d 713 (2000).

The consolidated cases in Cronin make clear what the statute and Court require with respect to knowledge of the general offense. Cronin was convicted of first degree premeditated murder. The Court noted that this could only occur if the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt (1) Cronin acted with premeditated intent and murdered the victim; or (2) had knowledge that his confederate would murder the victim. Cronin, 142 Wn.2d at 581. Thus, Cronin did not have to have knowledge of each element of first degree murder to be guilty as an accomplice but was required to have knowledge that a murder would be committed.

In a case consolidated with Cronin, State v. Bui, the Court similarly held that where Bui was found guilty as an accomplice to a second degree assault, he had to be aware that his actions were facilitating an assault, although not the specific degree of assault. Cronin, 142 Wn.2d at 581. Cronin and Roberts establish that to convict a person as an accomplice he or she must have knowledge of the general crime the principal will commit.

To prove Mr. Allen was an accomplice to first degree murder the State was required to prove he knew he was facilitating, promoting or aiding in the commission of a murder. RCW 9A.08.010(1); RCW 9A.32.030. It is not enough that the State's evidence may have established he knew Mr. Clemmons might commit some crime or even that he should have known Mr. Clemmons intended to commit a murder.

RCW 9A.08.010(1) defines "knowledge" as:

(b) A person knows or acts knowingly or with knowledge when:

(i) he or she is aware of a fact, facts, or circumstances or result described by a statute defining an offense; or

(ii) he or she has information which would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that facts exist which facts are described by a statute defining an offense.

The Supreme Court has made clear, the language contained in RCW 9A.08.101(1)(b)(ii) regarding a reasonable person is not an alternative definition of knowledge. State v. Shipp, 93 Wn.2d 510, 514-15, 610 P.2d 1322 (1980). This provision instead

permits but does not require the jury to infer actual, subjective knowledge if the defendant has information that would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that facts exist that are described by law as being a crime.

State v. Vanoli, 86 Wn. App. 643, 648, 937 P.2d 1166 (1997);

Shipp, 93 Wn.2d at 516.

Shipp recognized there were three potential readings of RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b)(ii). First, an instruction mirroring the language of the statute could permit a juror to conclude that if a reasonable person might have known of a fact, the juror was required to find the defendant had knowledge. 93 Wn.2d at 514. Second, a juror could conclude the statute redefined “knowledge” to include “negligent ignorance.” Id. Finally, a juror instructed in the language of the statute could conclude the statute requires he find the defendant had actual knowledge, “and that he is permitted, but not required, to find such knowledge if he finds that the defendant had ‘information which would lead a reasonable man in the same situation to believe that (the relevant) facts exist.’” Id.

Addressing each of these alternatives in turn, Shipp found the first “clearly unconstitutional” as it creates a mandatory presumption. 93 Wn.2d at 515. The Court deemed the second alternative unconstitutional as well, as defining knowledge in a

manner so contrary to its ordinary meaning deprived people of notice of which conduct was criminalized. Id. 515-16.

In resting upon the third interpretation as the only constitutionally permissible reading, the Supreme Court said “[t]he jury must still be allowed to conclude that he was less attentive or intelligent than the ordinary person.” Id. at 516. Thus, the “jury must still find subjective knowledge.” Id. at 517.

Therefore, the State could not meet its burden merely by proving Mr. Allen should have known that Mr. Clemmons would commit murder, or should have know he was assisting in that crime. Instead, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Allen actually knew that he was assisting Mr. Clemons commit murder. The State did not meet that burden.

c. The State did not prove Mr. Allen knew he was assisting in the commission of a murder.

In its best light, the State’s evidence established Mr. Allen was aware of Mr. Clemmons animosity towards and rantings about police. Mr. Allen was also aware that Mr.

Clemmons proclaimed himself to be Jesus and claimed to be friends with numerous celebrities.

The evidence established Mr. Allen and Mr. Clemmons arrived at a carwash on the corner of 212th and Steele several blocks from the coffee shop. Mr. Allen went across the street to a convenience store where he purchased a cigar. Mr. Allen then returned to the carwash. A minute or two following Mr. Allen's return, Mr. Clemmons returned to the carwash. There is no evidence that Mr. Allen dropped Mr. Clemmons somewhere else prior to arriving at the carwash, only to have Mr. Clemmons rejoin him later. Indeed, the only evidence offered by the State on this point was Mr. Allen's statement that he and Mr. Clemmons arrived at the carwash together, but that Mr. Clemmons was gone when Mr. Allen returned from the convenience store. The State's evidence did not establish Mr. Allen had any knowledge of Mr. Clemmons's whereabouts while Mr. Allen was away from truck or carwash.

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