A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'SASSIGNMENTS OF

ERROR.

1. Whether the State adduced sufficient evidence to prove,

beyond a reasonable doubt, all the elements of the crimes charged

against the defendant?

2. Whether the prosecuting attorney committed misconduct in

closing argument regarding the law of mens rea of accomplice

liability?

3. If the prosecuting attorney misstated the law, whether a

new trial is warranted where the jury was properly instructed?

4. Whether the trial court properly admitted statements made

by the defendant at the time ofhis arrest?

5. Whether the appellate court should consider issues where

no assignment of error has been made?

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE STATE ADDUCED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FOR

THE JURY TO FIND ALL THE ELEMENTS OF THE

CRIMES CHARGED, BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

In a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the appellate

court determines whether any rational fact finder could have found the

essential elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt,

viewing the trial evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v.

Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 336,150 P.3d 59 (2006). An insufficiency
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claim "admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that

reasonably can be drawn therefrom." State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192,

201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Direct and circumstantial evidence are

equally reliable. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn. 2d 821, 874, 83 P. 3d 970

2004). The Court defers to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting

testimony, witness credibility, and the persuasiveness of evidence.

Thomas, at 874-875; State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99

1980).

Under RCW 9A.08.020(3), an individual is guilty as an accomplice

if he or she "solicits, commands, encourages, or requests" another person

to commit a crime or aids in its planning or commission, knowing that his

or her act will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime. To prove

accomplice liability, the State must prove more than a person's physical

presence at the crime scene and assent to establish accomplice liability.

State v. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d 456,472-73, 39 P.3d 294

2002). But an accomplice need not participate in the crime, need not have

specific knowledge of every element of the crime, and does not have to

share the same mental state as the principal. See, State v. Berube, 150 Wn.

2d 498, 511, 79 P. 3d 1144 (2003); State v. Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 104,

804 P.2d 577 (1991).

Here, it was undisputed that Maurice Clemmons murdered the four

police officers. It was undisputed that he did so premeditatedly and while

armed with firearms. It was undisputed that the defendant drove
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Clemmons to the scene, waited at the nearby carwash, and drove

Clemmons away after the murders. The question was: did the defendant

act knowingly; did he assist Clemmons by driving him to the Forza,

knowing that Clemmons intended to kill the officers and assist in

Clemmons' escape afterwards?

Days before the murders, the defendant knew that Clemmons had

removed the electronic locating ankle bracelet that Clemmons was

required to wear. 23 RP 2959, 2963. The defendant was present, days

before the murders, at the Clemmons family Thanksgiving dinner in 2009,

where Clemmons stated that he hated the police and threatened to shoot

them. 21 RP 2749. At the same dinner, Clemmons displayed a semi-

automatic pistol. 21 RP 2750, 23 RP 2962.

On November 29, 2009, Clemmons picked the defendant up at the

defendant's home at 7427 So. Asotin Street in Tacoma. 21 RP 2762,

Clemmons had the defendant drive in returning south, eventually onto

South Steele Street. 23 RP 2973.

The self-service carwash where the defendant later ended up is at

the comer of South 112 and Steele. 17 RP 2121. However, the defendant

and Clemmons drove past it and continued south on Steele Street. On an

opposite comer of the same intersection was a Union 76 gas station. 22 RP

2861. It had a video surveillance system. Id. Video analyst Grant

Fredericks showed the jury video from that gas station depicting at least

two light-colored pick-up trucks that drove south on Steele Street just

7 - Darcus Allen brief doc



before 8:00 a.m. 22 RP 2875. The defendant himself admitted to Det.

Kobel that he and Clemmons had driven south on Steele St. past Forza

coffee. 23 RP 2973-2974.

At the same time, the four Lakewood Police officers had arrived at

Forza. Some of the patrol cars were parked in front, on Steele. 17 RP

2110. Greg Richards parked his car on the south side of the building. 17

RP 2162. Another officer parked his car behind the building. 17 RP 2107.

Barista Michelle Chabaya saw Clemmons appear from around the south

side of the building. 17 RP 2112. Both baristas, Michelle Chabaya and

Sara Kispert, saw Clemmons enter right behind Officer Richards. 17 RP

2112, 2162.

After dropping Clemmons off at Forza, the defendant drove back

to the nearby self-service carwash. When the defendant pulled into the self

service carwash, he was alone, 22 RP 2877. No one saw, nor did the video

show, Clemmons walking from the carwash. The video did show (22RP

2882) and witnesses did see him walking back. Bryan, Kirk, and Austin

Waage, across the street at an Arco AM/PM gas station/convenience store,

saw the defendant at the carwash. They all described his actions as

pretending" or going through the motions with the car wash. 19 RP 2471,

2511, 2542. Kirk Waage said that the truck seemed to be ready to leave

when Clemmons arrived (19 RP 2526), and that the defendant seemed to

be waiting for someone, 19 RP 2530.
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Flight may be considered as circumstantial evidence of guilty

knowledge. See, State v. McDaniel, 155 Wn. App. 829, 853-854, 230 P.

3d 245 (2010); see, also, State v. Graham, 130 Wn.2d 711, 726, 927 P. 2d

227 (1996)(in context of probable cause).

As soon as Clemmons walked up, rejoining the defendant, they

sped out of the carwash. Witnesses said the truck "peeled out". 17 RP

2122, 2172, 19 RP 2476-2477, 2539, The defendant was in such a hurry

that he tossed the carwash "wand" into the bed of the truck. The wand

snapped off as the defendant sped off. 19 RP 2480, 2525, 2539, 21 RP

2733. The defendant drove Clemmons quickly south on Ainsworth. 20 RP

2576.

The defendant drove the truck to the parking lot of a grocery store

near Clemmons' home and left it there. 20 RP 2625. A police canine unit

unsuccessfully tried to track the occupants of the truck. 20 RP 2374. The

canine officer opined that the occupants may have got out of the truck and

into another vehicle at the location. Id.

After ditching the truck, the defendant took a city bus back home.

23 RP 2967. The bus driver testified that there was a northbound bus stop

conveniently located directly across the street from where police found the

truck abandoned. 24 RP 3105.

Soon thereafter, the defendant showed up at Cicely Clemmons'

house. 21 RP 2761. The defendant almost immediately went to Federal

Way, where he checked into the New Horizon Motel under the name

9 - Darcus Allen brief doc



Randy Huey". 24 RP 3115. During a post-arrest interview, Det. Kobel

asked the defendant's name. The defendant did not answer right away.

First, the defendant asked "Who are you looking for?" 23 RP 2945. Then,

he identified himself as "Randy Huey". Id. In the interview, the defendant

gave Det. Kobel multiple versions of his actions during the past couple of

days and his interaction with Clemmons. 23 RP 2947.

Based on this evidence, a jury could certainly conclude that the

defendant dropped Clemmons off at the coffee shop, knowing Clemmons'

intent was to kill police officers. He himself admitted that he drove

Clemmons to the area. The time frame was very brief; insufficient for

Clemmons to walk the '/4 mile from the carwash to the coffee shop,

struggle with and kill four police officers, himself get shot, and walk back.

The defendant knew of Clemmons' recent threats to kill police and that he

was armed. The jury could conclude from the defendant's flight, hiding

out, and use of an assumed name that he knew what Clemmons was going

to do and that the defendant had assisted him. The jury could conclude that

the defendant further participated where he agreed to wait nearby to pick

Clemmons up to escape. There was sufficient evidence for the jury to

convict the defendant as charged.
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2. THE PROSECUTING ATTORNEYS DID NOT COMMIT

MISCONDICT IN CLOSING WHERE THEY ARGUED

THE LAW AS PROVIDED IN THE JURY

INSTRUCTIONS.

A defendant claiming prosecutorial misconduct bears the burden of

demonstrating that the remarks or conduct was improper and that it

prejudiced the defense. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 640, 888 P.2d

570 (1995), citing State v. Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93, 804 P.2d 577

1991). A defendant can establish prejudice only if there is a substantial

likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. State v. Carver,

122 Wn. 2d 300, 306, 93 P. 3d 947 (2004). If a curative instruction could

have cured the error and the defense failed to request one, then reversal is

not required, State v. Binkin, 79 Wn. App. 284, 293-294, 902 P.2d 673

1995), overruled on other grounds by State v. Kilgore, 147 Wn.2d 288,

53 P.3d 974 (2002); see, State v. Warren, 165 Wn. 2d 17, 195 P. 3d 940

2008).

When reviewing an argument that has been challenged as

improper, the court should review the context of the whole argument, the

issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument and the

instructions given to the jury. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85-6, 882

P.2d 747 (1994). Where defense counsel objected to a prosecutor's
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remarks at trial, the trial court's rulings are reviewed for abuse of

discretion. State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 809, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006).

The major issue in this case was whether the defendant knew that

Clemmons was going to go into the coffee shop to kill police officers. The

argument at issue was regarding the mens rea element for an accomplice.

Knowledge may be inferred from circumstantial evidence. If information

is sufficient to cause a reasonable person in the same situation to believe

that a fact exists, the trier of fact may infer that the defendant had

knowledge. State v. Perebeynos, 121 Wn. App. 189, 196, 87 P. 3d 1216

2004): State v. Shipp, 93 Wn. 2d 510,610 P. 2d 1322 (1980). The

prosecuting attorney in the present case was arguing this concept to the

jury. The prosecutor acknowledged the challenge of determining what a

person knows, absent an admission. 29 RP 3544. He accurately pointed

out that the jury could use circumstantial evidence, and with that evidence,

infer that if a reasonable person would have known a fact, the defendant

did. 29 RP 3545.

The state must prove that the defendant did know that he was

assisting in a crime. A jury is permitted to infer the defendant's personal

knowledge if an ordinary person would have had knowledge under the

circumstances but such an inference is not mandatory. State v. Shipp, 93

Wn.2d, at 517. This is different than proving what the defendant "should

have known". A defendant might correctly argue: "Maybe I should have

known, but I did not." In arguing that the defendant did know and the
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permissible inference, the prosecutor conflated the subjective "did" with

the objective "should have".

The prosecutor referred the jury to instruction no. 9 which provides

a clear and accurate statement of the law and told the jurors that they

would be applying that instruction during deliberation. 29 RP 3544-3545,

The court also instructed the jury that the law was contained in its

instructions and that they must disregard any remark, statement, or

argument that was not supported by the law in those instructions. CP 2017.

The jury was clearly instructed that they could infer the defendant's

knowledge by applying a reasonable person standard but they were not

required to do so. See Instruction 9, CP 2026.

A prosecutor's misstatement of the law in closing argument does

not warrant a new trial where the jury was properly instructed. State v.

Classen, 143 Wn. App. 45, 64-65 n. 13, 176 P.3d 582 (2008). Here, the

jury was correctly instructed on each of the elements it needed to find in

order to convict the defendant. A jury is presumed to follow the

instructions given. State v. Stein, 144 Wn.2d 236, 247, 27 P.3d 184

2001).

In the present case, the jury was properly instructed that:

A person knows or acts knowingly or with knowledge when
he or she is aware of a fact, facts or circumstances or result
described by law as being a crime.
If a person has information which would lead a reasonable
person in the same situation to believe that facts exist which
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are described by law as being a crime, the jury is permitted
but not required to find that he or she acted with knowledge.

Instruction 9, CP 2026. The defendant did not object to this instruction.

The jury was also correctly instructed that:

It is your duty to decide the facts in this case based upon the
evidence presented to you during this trial. It also is your
duty to accept the law from my instructions, regardless of
what you personally believe the law is or what you
personally think it should be. You must apply the law from
my instructions to the facts that you decide have been
proved, and in this way decide the case.

The lawyers' remarks, statements, and arguments are
intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the
law. It is important, however, for you to remember that the
lawyers' statements are not evidence. The evidence is the
testimony and the exhibits. The law is contained in my
instructions to you. You must disregard any remark,
statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence
or the law in my instructions.

See, Instruction 1, CP 2016, 2017.

In cases of prosecutorial misconduct, the touchstone of due process

analysis is the fairness of the trial, i.e., did the misconduct prejudice the

jury thereby denying the defendant a fair trial guaranteed by the due

process clause? Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209, 102 S. Ct. 940, 71

L.Ed.2d 78 (1982); State v. Weber, 99 Wn. 2d 158, 164, 659 P. 2d 1102

1983). Therefore, the ultimate inquiry is not whether the error was

harmless or not harmless but rather did the impropriety violate the
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petitioner's due process rights to a fair trial. State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.

2d 757, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984).

The appellate court should review this argument in the context of

the entire closing and the court's instructions. The Court's focus is less on

what the prosecutor said; but rather on the effect which was likely to flow

from the remarks. See, State v. Emery, 174 Wn. 2d 741, 762, 278 P. 3d

653 (2012). "The criterion always is, has such a feeling of prejudice been

engendered or located in the minds of the jury as to prevent a [defendant]

from having a fair trial?" Id., quoting Slattery v. City ofSeattle, 169

Wash. 144, 148, 13 P.2d 464 (1932).

Here, the prosecuting attorney argued that the jury was permitted

to infer from the circumstantial evidence that the defendant knew that

Clemmons intended to kill the police officers. 29 RP 3544. The prosecutor

referred specifically to the instruction. 29 RP 3545, 3546. The prosecutor

pointed out that his phrase "he should have known" was a summary or

shorthand way to describe the combined concepts of circumstantial

evidence and subjective knowledge. 29 RP 3545. He went on to properly

argue, based on the evidence, that: "if a reasonable person would have

known that Maurice Clemmons was going to go in there and kill these

cops, then his getaway driver knew, too." 29 RP 3545. The defendant's

initial objection was regarding shared premeditation. 29 RP 3545. The
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court's ruling was correct under Breube and Hoffman, supra. The

defendant then also objected to the "should have known" argument.

The "should have known" aspect of the prosecutor's argument was

improper. Under the law, a person may only be convicted for the criminal

act that he or she intends or knows, as the elements of the crime require.

The jury may conclude, from circumstantial evidence, that a reasonable

person knowing all the facts and circumstances that the defendant knew

would have known, and therefore that the defendant acted knowingly. The

jury may not find a person guilty of a crime where the defendant did not

have guilty knowledge, but, from all the facts and circumstances, should

have.

The prosecutor went on to repeat that a reasonable person would

know what Clemmons' intent was, and that the defendant was assisting in

it, therefore the defendant knew. 29 RP 3566. Again the prosecutor

argued: "He knew. Really, how could he not." Id. The prosecutor went on

to further argue that the evidence showed that the defendant had the

required knowledge: "He knew, and he knew his actions would help that

murder." 29 RP 3567.

It would have been more correct and legally accurate for the

prosecuting attorney to have focused on how the circumstantial evidence

proved the defendant's intent, rather than including the "should have
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known" theme. However, the prosecuting attorney also repeatedly

correctly argued the same legal principle of "knowledge" in this context.

He referred the jury to Instruction 9. 29 RP 3546. The jury was correctly

instructed and followed the law.

The prosecutor's argument was made in the initial closing. The

defendant objected, but did not request a jury instruction. In his closing,

the defendant had the opportunity to likewise argue the meaning of

Instruction 9. The defendant could have also pointed out the language of

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